FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
4/16/2020 8:00 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/16/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

98421-2

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 36169-1-III

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

JAMAICA CHRISTINA RILEY, Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Andrea Burkhart, WSBA #38519
Two Arrows, PLLC
8220 W. Gage Blvd. #789
Kennewick, WA 99336
Tel: (509) 572-2409

Email: Andrea@2arrows.net Attorney for Petitioner

. ...

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Jamaica Riley requests that this court accept review of the decision designated in Part II of this petition.

II. DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

Petitioner seeks review of the decision of the Court of Appeals filed on March 17, 2020, concluding that the trial court did not violate Riley's constitutional right to present a defense when it excluded impeachment evidence. A copy of the Court of Appeals' published opinion is attached hereto.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The trial court allowed the State to present testimony that Riley was serially aggressive toward her ex-husband, John Pink. At the same time, the trial court excluded defense witnesses who would have contradicted Pink's accounts, undermining his credibility about the nature of their relationship and calling into question whether he actually or reasonably feared Riley would carry out an alleged threat to shoot him. Did the trial court's exclusion of Riley's witnesses violate her constitutional rights to present a defense and to impeach Pink? Did the State open the door for Riley to present evidence of non-violence after the

State presented serial allegations and characterizations of her as a violent, aggressive person?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The conflict between Riley and Pink arose when they separated in 2016 after a 13-year relationship and having two children together, and both accused the other of misconduct and obtained protective orders against the other. RP 28, 40-41, 46, 49, 126-27. Two months after separating and moving out, Pink asked the utility company to remove his name from the bill for the family home. RP 28-29, 129. A utility employee arrived to disconnect the service. RP 114-15, 130-31.

Pink claimed that Riley called him at work, screaming, and threatened to shoot him in the head. RP 30, 32. Riley denied that she made this threat, as did the utility worker who was present for the calls. RP 117, 133-35. A sheriff deputy who overheard part of the conversation claimed that Riley said that if Pink came to pick up the kids that night, he would leave in an ambulance. RP 70.

Pink claimed that he believed Riley meant what she said about shooting him in the head. RP 31-32. To support this claim, Pink claimed that during their relationship, Riley would behave aggressively toward him and the children, stating at one point, "She's just very aggressive." RP 32-

34, 63. To support this characterization, he described incidents where she drove at high speeds with him and the children in the car, threw things at him, hit him in the back of the head, scratched him, and kicked him in the ribs and out of bed. RP 32-34, 63. According to Pink, Riley behaved aggressively toward him on a daily basis. RP 63. He also testified that after he had a no-contact order in place against her, she approached him to "speak her piece again" when picking up their children. RP 38-39. A State witness testified over Riley's objection that she had known Riley and Pink for two years and saw Riley raise her voice toward Pink and belittle him, call him stupid for ordering the wrong size pizza, and strike him "upside" the head and on the shoulder. RP 90-91, 94-97, 100, 103.

In response to this testimony, Riley proffered defense witness who had known Pink and Riley for decades, had spent time with them throughout their entire relationship, and would dispute the testimony that Riley behaved aggressively toward Pink. RP 9, 17-18, 77-79. The defense also sought to present testimony from two witnesses who observed the incident Pink described when Riley picked up the children and contradicted his account. RP 110-11. The trial court excluded all of these witnesses. RP 20, 80-81, 112-13. The jury thereafter convicted Riley of felony and misdemeanor telephone harassment, as well as violating the no-contact order when she contacted Pink during the winter

to ask him not to risk bringing the children back due to an imminent winter storm. CP 54-61, RP 45-46, 60, 138-39.

On appeal, Riley contended that the trial court's admission of the allegations of violence by Riley violated ER 404(b) and the exclusion of her own witnesses from responding to the allegations deprived Riley of her ability to present a defense. Appellant's Brief, 1, 10-11. Two judges of the Court of Appeals affirmed the conviction in a published opinion, concluding that the trial court properly applied ER 404(b). Opinion, at 1-2, 14. The majority relied upon the uncontroverted testimony of Pink and his supporting witness to claim that the prior misconduct probably occurred, and concluded it was relevant to establish the "context" for the alleged threat in order to determine whether it was a true threat. Opinion, at 8-9. Although Riley's rebuttal witnesses would have testified that Pink lied in his testimony about the child exchange incident, the majority concluded the rebuttal testimony was governed by ER 608(b) and was not admissible. Opinion, at 11-12. Similarly, although the State's misconduct evidence served to depict Riley as having a character for violence, the majority concluded the evidence established specific acts and could not be rebutted by defense witnesses unless they also witnessed those same acts. *Opinion*, at 13-14.

One judge dissented, arguing that the State was allowed to present extensive evidence painting Riley as a violent person, but Riley was not allowed to present evidence from long-standing acquaintances that they had never witnessed Riley or Pink act violently toward each other.

Opinion, at 15-16 (Fearing, J., dissenting). The dissenting judge pointed out that the majority's analysis incorrectly analyzed the evidentiary questions as involving discrete wrongful acts, instead of whether Riley should have had an opportunity to rehabilitate her character after the State attacked it. Opinion, at 17 (Fearing, J., dissenting). Consequently, the State opened the door to Riley's witnesses and their rebuttal testimony should have been allowed. Opinion, at 17-18 (Fearing, J., dissenting).

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(3). Under the Court of Appeals' analysis, the State may bolster its complaining witness's credibility with testimony characterizing the defendant as a violent and aggressive person, and the defendant may not respond with her own testimony rebutting those characterizations. This analysis cannot be reconciled with the defendant's constitutional right to present a defense, which permits the defendant "to expose to the jury the facts from which jurors, as the sole triers of fact and credibility, could appropriately draw inferences relating to the reliability of the witness." *Davis v. Alaska*, 415

U.S. 308, 318, 94 S. Ct. 1105, 39 L. Ed. 2d 347 (1974). Indeed, the right under the federal and state constitutions to due process includes the right to offer testimony, as part of affording the accused a fair opportunity to defend against the State's accusations. *State v. Cayetano-Jaimes*, 190 Wn. App. 286, 295-96, 359 P.3d 919 (2018).

The opinion reaches its unfair result by concluding that Riley's evidence was inadmissible under the rules of evidence and, therefore, her constitutional right to defend herself did not extend to its admission.

Opinion, at 13 n. 7 (citing State v. Aguirre, 168 Wn.2d 350, 363, 229 P.3d 669 (2010)). But the majority's analysis errs in multiple respects.

First, the majority incorrectly describes Riley's impeachment of Pink as "testimony that Mr. Pink had engaged in specific instances of dishonest behavior" subject to ER 608(b). *Opinion*, at 11. To the contrary, the testimony of Alyssa Turner would have established that Pink had lied on the stand in his testimony to the jury. RP 18, 39. The testimony was relevant, therefore, not to establish that Pink had been dishonest at one point in the past, but to show that he was currently being dishonest in describing his conflicts with Riley to the jury. RP 110-11. As such, it was governed by ER 607, not ER 608(b), as a matter affecting Pink's credibility on the stand. Because the State relied heavily on Pink's

account of these conflicts to establish the "context" of their relationship in order to establish his reasonable fear of harm, Riley's impeachment of the accounts was material and favorable to the defense and constituted her most compelling evidence that Pink's account was unreliable. *See Opinion*, at 10; *Harris v. Thompson*, 698 F.3d 609, 627 (7th Cir. 2012) (compulsory process violated by exclusion of testimony when the testimony would have been material and favorable to the defense, and exclusion was arbitrary or disproportionate to purpose advance by exclusion).

Second, the majority characterizes the "context" testimony about Riley's alleged aggression toward Pink as constituting "prior bad acts of aggression," which could only be rebutted by eyewitnesses to those specific incidents. *Opinion*, at 12. But as noted by the dissent, the State's evidence depicted Riley "as a circadian violent person" in order to show that Pink reasonably feared Riley would carry out an alleged threat to shoot him. *Opinion*, at 16 (Fearing, J., dissenting); *see also* RP 34 (Pink testifying "She's just very aggressive."). Once the State attacked Riley's character, Riley should have been allowed to rebut that evidence with her proffered witnesses of long-standing acquaintance who, over many years, saw none of the daily outbursts of aggression that Pink described. *Opinion*, at 17-18 (Fearing, J., dissenting).

"When it comes to a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to present a defense, it is best to admit relevant evidence and trust the State's cross-examination to ferret out falsities." *State v. Duarte Vela*, 200 Wn. App. 306, 323-24, 402 P.3d 281 (2017), *review denied*, 190 Wn.2d 1005 (2018). Here, Riley's proffered testimony was highly relevant to Pink's credibility on an essential element – namely, whether he reasonably feared Riley would carry out an alleged threat to shoot him because of the context of their relationship. Under the double-standard applied by the trial court and sanctioned by the majority, only the State was allowed to describe the relationship and bolster it with third-party testimony. The exclusion of Riley's witnesses created an uneven playing field that cannot be reconciled with her fundamental right to defend herself against the State's allegations.

Accordingly, this case presents a significant question concerning Riley's constitutional right to present a defense. Review is appropriate and should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the petition for review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and this Court should enter a ruling that the trial court's exclusion of Riley's witnesses, who were relevant to impeach

the complaining witness's credibility on a material issue, deprived her of her constitutional right to present a defense under the Fifth and Sixth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution and article I, section 3 of the Washington Constitution.