FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/15/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 98421-2

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS NO 36169-1-III

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

VS.

Jamaica Christina Riley,

Defendant/Appellant.

Respondent's *Amended* Reply to Petitioner's Motion for Discretionary Review

Carole L. Highland WSBA # 20504 205 W. 5th Ave, Ste. 213 Ellensburg, WA 98926 (509) 962-7520 Attorney for Respondent

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The victim, John Pink, was in a domestic relationship, to include marriage, with the Petitioner, Jamaica Riley, for some thirteen years. RP 27-28. In July of 2016, the couple separated. RP 28. Mr. Pink left the family home, but continued to pay the rent and utility bills for the couple's property where Ms. Riley continued residing with her boyfriend. RP 29-30.

In September or 2016, Mr. Pink took steps to remove his name from the PUD account at the couple's property. RP 30. Norm Hedden was the PUD worker who went out to the property to turn the service off. RP 116. When Mr. Hedden arrived, and Ms. Riley learned that the PUD service was going to be disconnected, she called Mr. Pink, who was in the parking lot outside his place of employment. RP 32.

According to Mr. Pink, Ms. Riley told him that if he removed his name from the bill, she would "shoot me in the head." RP 30. Mr. Pink testified that Ms. Riley was screaming and very shaky, and that the call was extremely scary. RP 31. Mr. Pink knew that Ms. Riley usually meant what she said, and that she was a good shot. RP 31-32. Although Ms. Riley had

threatened Mr. Pink in the past, she had never threatened to shoot him. RP 32. Mr. Pink testified that he believed the defendant's threats and that he took her threat to mean that she would kill him. RP 31-32, 62.

After this first call with Ms. Riley, Mr. Pink informed his boss who told Mr. Pink to call the Kittitas County Sheriff's Office as he didn't want Ms. Riley coming to their workplace and potentially shooting Mr. Pink. RP 31.

Mr. Pink did call the Sheriff's Office and Deputy Zach
Green responded. RP 68. As he was contacting Mr. Pink to
learn the nature of the complaint, Mr. Pink's phone rang, and
Mr. Pink stated "[t]hat's her again." RP 69. Mr. Pink put Ms.
Riley on speaker phone, and Deputy Green was able to hear a
voice that he recognized as Ms. Riley's. *Id.* Deputy Green
testified that there was a lot of screaming and yelling; that Ms.
Riley was very upset and belligerent, and was yelling at Mr.
Pink about a number of things. *Id.* According to the deputy,
during the course of the ensuing two to three minutes, Ms.
Riley was screaming, cussing, and calling Mr. Pink names.
RP 70. She told Mr. Pink, "[i]f you try to pick up my kids, I
guarantee you will leave in an ambulance." *Id.* The deputy

testified that throughout the five to ten minutes that he interacted with Mr. Pink prior to the call, Mr. Pink's demeanor was soft-spoken and low key, as it had been in all his prior interactions with Deputy Green, and as it remained throughout the call with Ms. Riley. RP 70.

When Deputy Green spoke with Ms. Riley the next day about the call, she denied having made any threats. RP 72. When the deputy informed her that he had overheard the call, Ms. Riley told him that she didn't remember making the threat, and that Mr. Pink had been rude and degrading. RP 73. At trial, Ms. Riley testified that she had not threatened Mr. Pink in the course of their discussions on September 16th. RP 134. She also stated that she did not recall making the threat about the ambulance and that she did not believe either Mr. Pink or Deputy Green when they had testified to that information in court. RP 143-144.

Mr. Hedden, the PUD worker who was disconnecting the power, testified that in the course of performing the service call, he heard Ms. Riley speaking to someone about not paying the power bill. RP 116-117. According to Mr. Hedden, "she was cussing him pretty good." RP 116. He heard neither

a threat to kill, nor a threat to shoot anyone, although he did hear Ms. Riley telling the person she was calling that she was going to "jump on a motorcycle and drive to town and – beat – beat his ass." RP 117. Mr. Hedden was unable to hear the person that Ms. Riley was speaking to, but testified that Ms. Riley was screaming, cussing, loud, and mad. RP 118.

Mr. Pink testified about other threats and acts of violence that Ms. Riley had committed in the course of their relationship. He stated that she would frequently get upset while they were in the car with the children, and drive at excessive speeds until he apologized. RP 32. He stated that this behavior had occurred at least a dozen times. RP 33. Mr. Pink testified that Ms. Riley would throw dinner plates and cell phones particularly at his head; that she would smack and kick him; scratch him, and in his words, was "just very aggressive." RP 33-34. Once Ms. Riley had scratched his left forearm with four fingernails, "from the elbow all the way to the wrist." *Id.* According to Mr. Pink, Ms. Riley had hit him too often to recall each incident. RP 50.

After the two calls, Mr. Pink obtained a protection order against Ms. Riley. RP 40. He was instructed by law

enforcement to contact them whenever Ms. Riley violated the order. RP 60, 69. Mr. Pink notified them of a call that Ms. Riley had made a few days later in which she was screaming, loud and threatening. RP 39-40. He also notified law enforcement of a communication from Ms. Riley in December of 2016, which had concerned their children and which communication was to occur only through a third party. RP 46-47, 59-60.

Mr. Pink did not contact law enforcement again until nearly a year later in November of 2017, after he encountered Ms. Riley at the Cottage Café/Inn in Cle Elum where he had gone to pick up the couple's children. According to Mr. Pink, he "was trying to pick my kids up, and she had to come up to the window and speak her piece again before she would let me have my kids — when there was the no-contact order in place." RP 39, 110-111.¹ There was no further testimony about this incident.

17971

¹ This incident is referred to in a piecemeal fashion throughout the proceedings and involved a November 2017, transfer of the couple's children at the Cottage Café/ Inn in Cle Elum. RP 6, 13, 17-18, 39, 110-111, CP 10. It is also the incident for which Ms. Riley sought to introduce the testimony of Joseph Riley and Alyssa Turner. RP 6, 13, 17-18, 110-111, CP 10.

On cross-examination of Mr. Pink, defense counsel elicited that the custody of the couple's children was contested and had been ongoing for the past two years. RP 51. However, custody had not been at issue at the time of the initial phone calls in which Ms. Riley had threatened Mr. Pink, and the latter of which Deputy Green had heard. RP 63. Mr. Pink did not know whether a conviction of Ms. Riley would benefit his position in the custody dispute, but testified that was "not my intention." RP 51. He further testified that when he had reported Ms. Riley's actions to law enforcement, it had not been in an effort to benefit himself in the custody dispute, but rather to stay safe, and because he had been told to do so. RP 52-53, 60, 69

The State also offered the testimony of Misty Black, who had known the couple for about two years towards the end of their relationship. RP 94, 98-99. The two families had spent time together; Ms. Riley had baby-sat for Ms. Black; and Ms. Black's children had stayed the night at the Pink/Riley home. RP 101-102.

Prior to Ms. Black taking the stand, defense counsel renewed his objection to her testifying based on relevance,

arguing that the statements in her declaration were character evidence and dissimilar to the allegations in the current matter. RP 90-91. The State's response was that the observations of the witness were relevant to show an ongoing pattern of domestic violence and the victim's subjective fear of Ms. Riley. The Court indicated that it would allow Ms. Black to testify and then revisit the issue. *Id.*

Ms. Black testified that she had heard Ms. Pink "put him down for – doing something that she didn't approve of, or she would belittle him, and hit him upside the head, or – whatever she felt was necessary." RP 95-96. According to Ms. Black, Ms. Riley would yell at Mr. Pink when he wasn't doing something the way that she wanted it done. RP 96. In addition to seeing Ms. Riley hit Mr. Pink upside the head, Ms. Black also observed Ms. Riley hit Mr. Pink on the shoulder, "like shoving him". *Id.* Ms. Black had seen this behavior "a couple of handfuls of times throughout the last couple years of going over there –" *Id.* Ms. Black never saw Mr. Pink verbally or physically respond to Ms. Riley's actions other than to hang his head or apologize. RP 97. In cross-examination, defense counsel elicited that this behavior had occurred during the end

of the couple's relationship, and that Ms. Black was a friend of both Mr. Pink and his current girlfriend. RP 99, 101.

According to Ms. Riley, she and Mr. Pink had "had a fairy tale relationship." RP 126. She testified that the two of them "were the - role model couple. We were perfect. Everybody wanted exactly the relationship we had." Id. Ms. Riley testified that the custody of their two children was disputed and that Mr. Pink had obtained numerous protections orders against her on his behalf as well as their children. RP 126-127. She stated that during the last few years, things had "just got out of hand." RP 128. She testified to a loss of selfesteem caused by Mr. Pink's treatment of her. Id. However, Ms. Riley also testified that there was no violence in the marriage. RP 125. Ms. Riley testified that she had never threatened Mr. Pink, but acknowledged that she had posted on Facebook that she would ruin him financially because she was angry. RP 137, 143.

Prior to trial, the State moved to exclude the testimony of Alyssa Turner, Joseph Riley, Rebecca Pink, Tara Krier,² and

² Ms. Krier is listed in the report of proceedings as "Tara Crier" RP 7, as well as "Tara Cryer" CP 10, RP 9-10, 20, 77-78.

Joshua Fishnik³ in the defendant's case-in-chief. According to Ms. Riley, Ms. Turner and Mr. Riley would testify about the transfer of the parties' children at the Cottage Café/Inn in November of 2017, alleging that Mr. Pink had made a false statement to law enforcement in an attempt to gain custody of his children. RP 17-18. According to counsel, Ms. Turner and Mr. Riley would dispute any allegations "that he (Mr. Pink) said that she (Ms. Riley) was yelling at him, threatening him, cursing him, and they (Ms. Turner and Mr. Reilly) were right there. And know that it did not happen." RP 6, 13, 17-18, 110-111, CP 10. Rebecca Pink, Tara Krier, and Joshua Fishnik were offered to testify that they had never seen any acts of domestic violence between the defendant, Ms. Riley, and the victim, Mr. Pink, and that the idea that Ms. Riley was abusive or assaultive was something that they never saw, and inconsistent with what they saw." RP 7, 77-79, 110-111, CP 10-11.

The State filed a motion *in limine* to preclude the testimony of these witnesses under ER 401, 403, 404, 404(b), 608, and

³ Mr. Fishnik is listed in the report of proceedings as "Joshua Fishnick" CP 11, RP 7, 20. The issue of his proffered testimony does not appear to be discussed in Petitioner's Motion for Discretionary Review, but the arguments regarding the testimony of Ms. Krier and Ms. Pink would apply equally to him.

704. The Court granted the State's motion, noting that the incident of the transfer of the parties' children at the Cottage Café/Inn was subsequent to the threatening calls at issue, dealt with collateral matters, and that the proffered testimony of Ms. Rebecca Pink, Ms. Krier, and Mr. Fishnik would only indicate an absence of observation which did not preclude the possibility that acts of domestic violence had occurred at other times. RP 12, 15, 20.

Defendant filed a motion *in limine* to preclude the testimony of Misty Black, a woman who had known Ms. Riley and Mr. Pink during the latter part of their relationship, and who, as stated *supra.*, had observed acts of domestic violence towards the victim at the hands of the defendant. RP 9, 12-13, 15-16. The State argued that Ms. Black's testimony was relevant as she had actually observed the defendant strike Mr. Pink. RP 14. The State cited *State v. Ragin*, 94 Wn.App. 407, 972 P.2d 519 (1999), and *State v. Barragan*, 102 Wn.App. 754, 9 P.3d 942 (2000), in support of its position that these acts went to the subjective fear of Mr. Pink when threatened by Ms. Riley. Ms. Riley renewed her objection prior to the testimony of Ms. Black. RP 90. The Court reserved ruling

until having heard her testimony. RP 91, 93. At the close of the State's case (which occurred immediately after Ms. Black had testified), the Court stated:⁴

And here's the other thing – we're going to be doing – and – haven't seen it, but it looks like – in his – we're going to be telling the jury that the only reason they can consider all of those – previous incidents between Mr. Pink and Ms. Riley – the only thing they can consider those for is to determine whether – Mr. Pink was – justified in his belief, in other words, whether his belief that he was going to be harmed was reasonable.

So they're not going to be use (sic) it for any other purpose. That's the whole purpose of the limiting instruction. So it doesn't make any sense to then – allow testimony to try to refute that type of testimony, because it's only being offered for that one purpose; it can't be used by them for any other purpose.

I'm going to stick to my original ruling, Mr. Moser. But you're making a good record. RP 15, 80, 110-113.

As an agreed limiting instruction, the Court gave the jury instruction number nine, which read as follows:

Evidence regarding past interactions between the defendant and Mr. Pink may only be considered by the jury in determining whether Mr. Pink was in reasonable fear that any threat would be carried out. RP 176, 187-188, CP 32.

⁴ The Court had previously indicated that it might provide a limiting instruction if it were to allow the testimony of Ms. Black. RP 80.

V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the trial court did not violate Petitioner's constitutional right to present a defense when it excluded her witnesses, who, under the rules of evidence, could not have properly provided impeachment evidence. Furthermore, there were allowable alternative methods for Ms. Riley to have accomplished the same result.

Petitioner asserts that Alyssa Turner and Joseph Riley would have contradicted John Pink's testimony about the exchange of the couple's children in Cle Elum in November of 2017. According to the offer of proof at trial, those witnesses would have testified that John Pink lied when he said that Jamaica Riley "was yelling at him, threatening him, cursing him, and they were right there and know that that did not happen." RP 18.

During trial, Mr. Pink was asked about his interactions with the defendant after the September 2016, telephone calls.

Testifying to the exchange of their children at the Cottage

Café/Inn, John Pink stated:

"...I was trying to pick my kids up, and she had to come up to the window and speak her piece again before she would let me have my kids – when there was the no-contact order in place." RP 39.

This was the *totality* of Mr. Pink's testimony regarding this incident. (emphasis added). Other than saying that Ms. Riley had to "speak her piece again," there was no reference to the defendant's demeanor, her posture, or tone of voice, no allegation that she had yelled at him, threatened him, or cursed him.

Petitioner's argument at trial seemed to be that at the time of the November incident, Mr. Pink told law enforcement something different than what he testified to, and what he had told law enforcement was a lie.

It is somewhat confusing, that in her motion for discretionary review, Petitioner's claim seems to be that Mr. Pink's trial testimony was a lie:

"...Riley's rebuttal witnesses would have testified that Pink lied in his testimony about the child exchange incident..." BP 4.

"To the contrary, the testimony of Alyssa Turner would have established that Pink had lied on the stand in his testimony to the jury. RP 18, 39.

The testimony was relevant, therefore, not to establish that Pink had been dishonest at one point in the past, but to show that he was *currently* being dishonest in describing his conflicts with Riley to the jury. RP 110-11." BP 6. (emphasis added).

Since he did not testify that Jamaica Riley yelled at, threatened, or cursed him, it is unclear as to what Ms. Turner or Mr. Riley would rebut, refute, or impeach. Mr. Pink's testimony was not as they had represented it would be, the event had occurred some fourteen months after the threatening phone calls made by Ms. Riley and overheard by Mr. Hedden and Deputy Green, and Mr. Pink was available to be cross-examined on the exchange if there were some potential bias to be elicited.

Evidence rule 608(b) Specific Instances of Conduct states:

Specific instance of the conduct of a witness, for the purpose of attacking or supporting the witness' credibility, other than conviction of crime as provided in rule 609, may not be proved by extrinsic evidence. They may, however, in the discretion of the court if probative of truthfulness or untruthfulness, be inquired into on character for truthfulness or untruthfulness of another witness as to which character the witness being cross-examined has testified.

The proffered testimony of Ms. Turner and Mr. Riley would have been hearsay on a collateral matter for which Mr. Pink was available for proper impeachment through cross-examination under ER 608(b).

As the Court of Appeals correctly noted, the testimony of Rebecca Pink and Tara Krier might have been relevant if they had been present during the specific incidents that Misty Black or John Pink were testifying about. There was no indication that they were, and the witnesses' testimony was offered merely to show that Ms. Riley and Mr. Pink had a non-violent relationship. The absence of evidence is not evidence of absence however, and Ms. Black and Mr. Pink were subject to cross-examination regarding those specific incidents that they testified to.

Additionally, those incidents were offered to show the reasonableness of Mr. Pink's fear when he received the two threatening phone calls from Ms. Riley, they were not offered to show her character, or that she acted in conformity therewith. As the Court of Appeals noted:

Under our state's evidence rules, Ms. Riley could have attempted to introduce evidence of her peaceful character through reputation evidence.

ER 405(a). But she did not do so. Ms. Riley was not entitled to circumvent the evidentiary prerequisites of reputation testimony by recasting peaceful character evidence as rebuttal testimony. The trial court was well within its discretion in excluding Ms. Riley's witnesses. *Opinion*, at 13 (footnotes omitted).

Petitioner does not address why ER 405(a) was not adequate to provide her with the means of achieving her goal of showing herself as an individual with a reputation of peacefulness. Petitioner also argues that the testimony of Tara Krier would have gone to the issue of whether or not John Pink had a reasonable fear of Ms. Riley RP 10, BP 8. Even the dissent acknowledges that the testimony of Ms. Krier for that purpose would have been improper. *Opinion*, at 17 (Fearing, J., dissenting).

VI. CONCLUSION

Testimony about prior bad acts of Ms. Riley were not offered to show her character but rather Mr. Pink's subjective fear in response to her threats. Under ER 608(b) and 405(a), Ms. Riley had the opportunity to cross examine both Ms. Black and Mr. Pink, and to have her reputation for peacefulness before the jury if she were able to establish that her character had been called into question, and that she had such a

reputation within the community. Ms. Riley was not denied her opportunity to present her evidence and her defense, she was however held to the rules of evidence. Therefore, Ms. Riley was not denied her constitutional right to present a defense and cannot establish under RAP 13.4(b)(3) that this Court should grant discretionary review. Petitioner's motion should be denied.